

# House of Commons European Scrutiny Committee

# The Work of the Committee in 2008

Fourth Report of Session 2008–09



# House of Commons European Scrutiny Committee

# The Work of the Committee in 2008

Fourth Report of Session 2008–09

Report, together with formal minutes

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed date 14 January 2009

### The European Scrutiny Committee

The European Scrutiny Committee is appointed under Standing Order No.143 to examine European Union documents and—

- a) to report its opinion on the legal and political importance of each such document and, where it considers appropriate, to report also on the reasons for its opinion and on any matters of principle, policy or law which may be affected;
- b) to make recommendations for the further consideration of any such document pursuant to Standing Order No. 119 (European Standing Committees); and
- c) to consider any issue arising upon any such document or group of documents, or related matters.

The expression "European Union document" covers —

- i) any proposal under the Community Treaties for legislation by the Council or the Council acting jointly with the European Parliament;
- ii) any document which is published for submission to the European Council, the Council or the European Central Bank;
- iii) any proposal for a common strategy, a joint action or a common position under Title V of the Treaty on European Union which is prepared for submission to the Council or to the European Council:
- iv) any proposal for a common position, framework decision, decision or a convention under Title VI of the Treaty on European Union which is prepared for submission to the Council;
- v) any document (not falling within (ii), (iii) or (iv) above) which is published by one Union institution for or with a view to submission to another Union institution and which does not relate exclusively to consideration of any proposal for legislation;
- vi) any other document relating to European Union matters deposited in the House by a Minister of the Crown.

The Committee's powers are set out in Standing Order No. 143.

The scrutiny reserve resolution, passed by the House, provides that Ministers should not give agreement to EU proposals which have not been cleared by the European Scrutiny Committee, or on which, when they have been recommended by the Committee for debate, the House has not yet agreed a resolution. The scrutiny reserve resolution is printed with the House's Standing Orders, which are available at www.parliament.uk.

#### **Current membership**

Michael Connarty MP (Labour, Linlithgow and East Falkirk) (Chairman)

Mr Adrian Bailey MP (Labour/Co-op, West Bromwich West)

Mr David S. Borrow MP (Labour, South Ribble)

Mr William Cash MP (Conservative, Stone)

Mr James Clappison MP (Conservative, Hertsmere)

Ms Katy Clark MP (Labour, North Ayrshire and Arran)

Jim Dobbin MP (Labour, Heywood and Middleton)

Mr Greg Hands MP (Conservative, Hammersmith and Fulham)

Mr David Heathcoat-Amory MP (Conservative, Wells)

Keith Hill MP (Labour, Streatham)

Kelvin Hopkins MP (Labour, Luton North)

Mr Lindsay Hoyle MP (Labour, Chorley)

Mr Bob Laxton MP (Labour, Derby North)

Angus Robertson MP (SNP, Moray)

Mr Anthony Steen MP (Conservative, Totnes)

Richard Younger-Ross MP (Liberal Democrat, Teignbridge)

**17** 

# **Contents**

**Formal minutes** 

Report		
1	Introduction	3
	Activity	3
	Reform of the Scrutiny System	5
	Changes to the European Scrutiny Committee	5
	Changes to European Committees	6
	Scrutiny Issues	7
	Annual Policy Strategy (APS)	7
	Conclusions of the European Council and the Council of Ministers	7
	Subsidiarity	9
	The scrutiny process	9
	Departmental performance	9
	Co-operation with Departmental Select Committees	11
	Parliamentary networking	11
	National Parliament Office	12
	Joint Parliamentary Meeting	13
	Tripartite Meetings	13
	Devolved Administrations	13
	Pre- and post Council scrutiny	13
	Conclusion	14
	Annex	15
	Meetings and subjects discussed during the Committee's overseas visits	15
	Pre-presidency visit to France by the Chairman, 7-8 July 2008	15
	EU Institutions, 13-14 October 2008	15
	Pre-presidency visit to the Czech Republic, 18-20 November 2008	16

# Introduction

# **Activity**

- 1. This report covers our work from January 2008 to November 2008. Previous reports have been based on the calendar year, but this and subsequent annual reports on the work of the Committee will be based on the parliamentary session. As the 2007 report covered the calendar year until 31 December 2007, this report covers the period from 1 January to 26 November 2008.
- 2. Our core task was to examine on behalf of the House the EU documents deposited in Parliament, to assess their legal and political importance and to determine which should be debated.<sup>2</sup> During the period covered by this report, 886 documents were examined,<sup>3</sup> 398 were deemed of legal and/or political importance and 50 were recommended for debate. 24 debates took place in European [Standing] Committees (sometimes covering several documents) and two on the Floor of the House. We used our power to seek an opinion on a document from another select committee on two occasions.
- 3. In addition to the forty weekly reports to the House on the scrutiny of documents, we carried out a number of inquiries and produced individual reports on Conclusions of the European Council and the Council of Ministers,<sup>4</sup> (an inquiry which began in 2007), and Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty. 5
- 4. As in previous years, we continued to take oral evidence sessions from Ministers, outside organisations and individuals. Our oral evidence sessions are set out in Table 1.

Table 1 Oral evidence taken by the European Scrutiny Committee in 2008

Category	Date	Subject	Main witness
Individual documents/EU policy areas	16 January 2008	Draft Council Decision establishing the European Police Office (EUROPOL)	Mr Tony McNulty MP
EU policy areas	14 May 2008	Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty	Professor Dashwood

Twelfth Report of Session 2007-08, HC 315.

For a description of the Committee's method of working, see The European scrutiny system in the House of Commons, which is on the Committee's website and is available from the Committee's staff.

These numbers are lower than those given in the sessional returns because, in the latter, documents are counted again if they are considered a second or subsequent time.

Tenth Report of Session 2007-08, HC 86 (Incorporating HC 544-i, ii and iii, Session 2006-07) and Twenty-fifth Report of Session 2007-08, HC 606.

Thirty-third Report of Session 2007-08, HC 563.

Individual documents	4 June 2008	Recent scrutiny performance of BERR	Baroness Vadera
EU policy areas	18 June 2008	Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty	Professor Hix
Individual documents	23 June 2008	Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty	Commissioner Margot Wallström
Individual documents	28 June 2008	Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty	Mr Jim Murphy MP

5. We made a pre-Presidency visit to the Czech Republic, and visited the EU Institutions and UKRep in Brussels. A pre-Presidency visit to Paris was unfortunately cancelled due to business in the House and difficulties over whipping arrangements. The Chairman made the visit in a representative capacity at a later date. A list of visits is set out in Table 2.6 The Committee attended a "Tripartite" meeting with Members of the House of Lords EU Committee and UK MEPs in Brussels. The Chairman attended a meeting of the EC-UK Forum comprising European Scrutiny and European Union Committees from Westminster, the Scottish Parliament, the National Assembly for Wales and the Northern Ireland Assembly.

**Table 2: Visits by the European Scrutiny Committee in 2008** 

Date	Location	Purpose of visit
11- 14 January 2008	Ljublijana	International Conference on the 'The Role of National Parliaments in the EU Decision- Making Processes'
11-12 February 2008	Brussels	Joint parliamentary meeting on the Lisbon Strategy
17-18 February 2008	Ljubljana	COSAC Chairpersons meeting
6-8 May 2008	Bled	COSAC XXXIX
26 June 2008	Brussels	Joint parliamentary meeting on the European Union and Development Cooperation
6-7 July 2008	Paris	COSAC Chairpersons Meeting
7-8 July 2008	Paris	Pre-Presidency visit to France <sup>7</sup>

<sup>6</sup> The Annex to the report lists the meetings attended during those visits and indicates the subjects discussed.

<sup>7</sup> The Chairman attended in a representative capacity.

13-14 October 2008	Brussels	Visit to EU Institutions
2-4 November 2008	Paris	COSAC XL
18-20 November 2008	Prague	Pre-Presidency visit to the Czech Republic

# **Reform of the Scrutiny System**

- 6. The Modernisation Committee reported in 2005 on the scrutiny of European matters in the House of Commons. In our last two reports on the work of the Committee we expressed concern at the lack of progress on reform.
- 7. During 2007, meetings took place between the Chairman and the Leader of the House and her predecessor. By the beginning of the 2007-08 parliamentary session it was clear that some progress was at last being made.
- 8. On 7 February 2008, the House agreed Government amendments to the Standing Orders which were designed to reform the scrutiny process. The amendments were temporary and would run till the end of 2008. The reforms were modest and were concerned with the functioning of the European Standing Committees (henceforth to be known as European Committees).

# Changes to the European Scrutiny Committee

9. In keeping with the House's practice for select committees, the European Scrutiny Committee deliberated in private but took evidence from witnesses in public. This practice was changed by the Opposition amendment to Standing Order No. 143, which was agreed by the House on 7 February 2008. It provided that the Committee:

"shall sit in public unless it determines otherwise in relation to a particular meeting or part thereof."

- 10. On 20 February, the Committee discussed how it might adapt its working methods in light of the change to its Standing Order. It agreed that it would meet in public for the sifting of documents and the consideration of related draft reports and pre-and post Council ministerial statements. It also agreed that the discussions with its advisers would take place only during the private meetings of the Committee.
- 11. These new working methods were put into immediate effect. Committee meetings were split into two parts; first, a briefing in private with the Committee's officials, and then a session in public for the consideration of the Committee's draft report.
- 12. In October, the Committee reviewed its procedures. Following that review, it agreed the following resolution:

"That the Committee believes that, in conformity with the practice of the House in respect of select committees, its deliberations should take place in private, and therefore requests the Leader of the House to ask the House not to renew the provisions contained in the temporary amendment to the Committee's Standing Order, Standing Order No.143 (10)."

The House did not renew the temporary Standing Order change and from 1 January 2009 the Committee reverted to deliberating in private.

# Changes to European Committees

- 13. In 2005 European Standing Committees ceased to have permanent memberships. Instead, a nominated Committee was appointed for each document referred for debate. The amendments to Standing Order No. 119 on 7 February 2008 continued this arrangement, but with some modification of the committees' composition and changes to the format of their meetings.
- 14. The House agreed that in nominating the Members of a European Committee, the Committee of Selection would, where practicable, nominate at least two members of the European Scrutiny Committee and at least two members of any relevant departmental select committee (DSC). The House also agreed that a member of the European Scrutiny Committee would open the sitting with a brief statement explaining why the scrutiny committee had referred the document (or documents) for debate.
- 15. These changes have been for the better. The short introductory statement provides a useful connection between the work of the European Scrutiny Committee and that of the European Committees. The nomination to European Committees of members of the European Scrutiny Committee and the relevant departmental select committee has increased the pool of expert knowledge. Finally, the move to a more select committee style of questioning in the European Committees has enabled members to pursue detailed lines of questioning.
- 16. On 12 November 2008, the House made permanent the changes to SO. No. 119 (European Committees). We remain disappointed that the Government did not give European Committees permanent memberships. In our opinion, a permanent membership would enable members to acquire knowledge over a range of issues which would assist them in their scrutiny role.
- 17. In addition, we reiterate the concerns, addressed in last year's report on the *Work of the Committee*,<sup>8</sup> that the failure to nominate European Committees with permanent memberships has had an detrimental impact on lobbyists and interest groups. These groups play an essential part in parliamentary scrutiny but, in the absence of a permanent membership of European Committees, outside bodies and campaigning organisations find it difficult to know how best to bring their concerns to the attention of the House.

# **Scrutiny Issues**

# Annual Policy Strategy (APS)

18. In 2007, the Committee conducted a substantial inquiry into the Commission's Annual Policy Strategy (APS) 2008.9 We concluded that because the document was at a high level of generality the APS was unlikely to generate the sort of debate which the Commission says it would like to see. The document was useful in so far as it alerted members to the issues on which the Commission was developing proposals, but not in performing the document-based scrutiny function given to us by the House.

19. Our consideration of the APS 2009 served to reinforce our view that the APS is a document for debate rather than scrutiny. We therefore welcome the Government's intention to hold an annual debate on the APS in Westminster Hall, the first of which was held on 12 June. As the then Minister for Europe (Mr Jim Murphy) stated in his opening remarks, the annual debate will be a:

"... means of helping the House to achieve better scrutiny of the annual European Commission's work plan...I hope that this, the first of what we intend to be annual debates in Westminster Hall on the Commission's annual policy strategy and legislative work programme, will be an important stop in how Westminster scrutinises Brussels."10

# Conclusions of the European Council and the Council of Ministers

20. The Conclusions of the European Council have a powerful influence on the policies of the EU and its priorities. They are frequently cited by the Commission as the authority for a proposal. Yet the draft of the Conclusions is not deposited for scrutiny by Parliament. Nor are the draft Conclusions of the Council of Ministers, even though the Conclusions are politically binding on Member States.

- 21. We decided, therefore, to conduct an inquiry into the arrangements for the preparation, consideration, and approval of the Conclusions of both institutions. We published our findings and recommendations in February 2008.<sup>11</sup>
- 22. As we noted in our Council Conclusions report, some national parliaments are provided with the draft Conclusions by their governments.12 In Denmark, draft Conclusions are routinely sent to the European Affairs Committee of the Folketing in advance of that Committee's regular pre-Council meetings with the Prime Minister or with Documents thus provided are available to the public via the Danish Ministers. parliament's website.
- 23. We called on the Government to deposit in Parliament the draft Conclusions of the European Council and recommended that Standing Order No. 143 be amended

Thirty-second Report of Session 2006-07, HC 519-i.

<sup>10</sup> Official Report, Col. 137WH.

<sup>11</sup> Tenth Report of Session 2007-08, HC 86.

<sup>12</sup> Ibid. See Appendix to the Report.

accordingly. We also recommended that Ministers should either deposit for scrutiny the draft Conclusions of the Council of Ministers or, if time is short, write to us enclosing the draft and explaining the Government's position on it.

24. The Foreign Secretary, the Rt Hon David Miliband, wrote to the Committee on 17 May 2008 in response to our recommendations. He said that:

"With regard to the deposit of draft European Council Conclusions for scrutiny, I regret that the Government is not at liberty to submit these documents to Parliament. Under Council rules agreed by all 27 Member States, these are 'internal documents with a limited distributions' (LIMITÉ) and we are obliged to respect these rules (actions by others do not excuse this obligation). Furthermore, given that the European Council is not a legislative body and does not take legallybinding decisions, such scrutiny would not be appropriate. European Council Conclusions are working, evolving documents with no formal legal basis - they usually give rise to legislative proposal that are themselves subject to Parliamentary scrutiny. Finally, on a practical level, the draft Conclusions are often not finalised until just before the European Council meeting itself, so there are procedural barriers too."

25. As to our recommendation about the draft Conclusions of the Council of Ministers, the Foreign Secretary said that he believes that the Government already goes to great lengths to ensure that Parliament is fully informed of deliberations at the Council of Ministers. He supported government departments being as open as possible regarding the context of the Conclusions and the general position the UK would be taking in the Council, although he recognised that this fell short of actually making the text available.

26. We published a follow-up report on 12 June 2008. 13 We said that it appeared to us that the Foreign Secretary's letter repeated the Government views which had been put to us during the inquiry and which we had considered before we made our recommendations. We saw no reason to depart from what we had said in our Tenth Report and we called on the Government to pursue our recommendation in the interests of greater openness and accountability.

27. Two instances that illustrate our position concern the way revisions to existing Common Positions dealing with sanctions against named individuals connected with the regimes in Belarus and Uzbekistan were handled. Rather than being informed in advance of the 13 October General Affairs and External Relations Council (GAERC) about what the Foreign Secretary describes as "the context of the Conclusions and the general position the UK would be taking in the Council", we were presented, not with a proposal to be scrutinised ahead of the Council, but with a *fait accompli* — a decision about those changes that had already been announced in the 13 October GAERC Conclusions and widely publicised, which was then embodied in changes to the Common Position which we were asked to clear ahead of the November GAERC in order to give effect to that decision. We shall be pursuing this matter with the Minister for Europe in the New Year.

<sup>13</sup> The Conclusions of the European Council and the Council of Ministers: Follow up report, Twenty-fifth Report of Session 2007-08, HC 606.

# Subsidiarity

28. We decided to conduct an inquiry into the provisions of the Lisbon Treaty which are intended to "encourage greater involvement of national parliaments in the activities of the European Union and to enhance their ability to express their views on draft legislative acts ... as well as on other matters which may be of particular interest to them". 14 We devoted most attention to the provisions on the role of national parliaments in considering the compatibility of proposals for EU legislation with the principle of subsidiarity.<sup>15</sup> This is because, irrespective of the Lisbon Treaty, the principle will remain a part of EU and Community law.

29. Our report, Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty was published on 21 October. Our main conclusions were that:

- the substance of the subsidiarity Article in the Lisbon Treaty is the same in its effect as the existing Article in the EC Treaty;
- examination of EU proposals for compliance with the principle of subsidiarity is a long-established and fundamental part of the scrutiny process in the House of Commons;
- whether a proposal does or does not comply is a matter of political judgement and is unlikely to be capable of an entirely objective assessment.;
- where we have concerns about a proposal's compatibility with the principle, we draw them to the attention of the Government and, where it shares our assessment, Ministers take up the concerns with the Commission and other Member States;
- we doubted, therefore, whether the Lisbon Treaty's provisions on subsidiarity would make much practical difference to the influence presently enjoyed by the UK Parliament; and
- we also noted that, under the Lisbon Treaty's yellow and orange card procedures, the legislative decision on subsidiarity would continue to rest with the EU Institutions.16

# The scrutiny process

### Departmental performance

30. The scrutiny reserve resolution is fundamental to the House's scrutiny process. It imposes a general discipline on Ministers and departments to provide Explanatory Memoranda on documents submitted for scrutiny, to respond to the Committee's requests

<sup>14</sup> Preamble to the Protocol to the Lisbon Treaty on the role of national parliaments in the European Union.

<sup>15</sup> The principle was introduced into Community law by the Treaty of Maastricht in 1993. It requires that, in matters which do not fall within the Community's exclusive competence, the EC should take action only if the objectives of the proposed action cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States themselves and can, because of the scale or effects of the proposed action, be better achieved by the Community.

<sup>16</sup> In so far as the question of subsidiarity is a question of law, the final decision rests with the European Court of

for information and to arrange debates in advance of consideration of EU proposals by the Council. The Committee monitors the operation of the resolution and calls Ministers to give oral evidence if it believes they have overridden the resolution without good cause.

- 31. The Government provides us with six-monthly breakdowns of departmental overrides of documents which are still under scrutiny. The most recent covers the period January to June 2008 and contained four overrides. Over the last two years there have been significant improvements in departments' performance.
- 32. We welcome the Government's commitment to reducing the number of overrides. The figures for July-December are not yet available and, now the Government has accepted the Committee's argument that general approaches fall within the scrutiny reserve, there is potentially a greater risk for the Government in breaching scrutiny.
- 33. Where Departments breached the resolution without good cause, we held Ministers to account. In 2007, the Home Office repeatedly breached the spirit of the scrutiny reserve resolution because they agreed to "general approaches" to two documents while they were under scrutiny. We took oral evidence from the Parliamentary Under-Secretary (Meg Hillier) in December 2007 and from the Minister of State (Mr Tony McNulty) in January 2008. Relations between the Home Office and the Committee have greatly improved since these evidence sessions and we are grateful to Home Office Ministers and officials for their help in strengthening the scrutiny process. We also believe that our reports on these cases and a previous one were influential in persuading the Government that, in future and as a general rule, Ministers should not take part in the agreement of general approaches if the document concerned remains under scrutiny.
- 34. The Committee met during the summer recess in order to consider documents in advance of Council meetings and, in particular, the meeting of the GAERC on 15-16 September. The Committee's September meeting enabled measures to be agreed by Ministers without incurring overrides and will have helped ensure that the scrutiny override figures for the period July-December 2008 show a further reduction when compared to previous years.
- 35. In July we held an oral evidence session with Baroness Vadera, Parliamentary Under-Secretary for Business and Competitiveness at the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform (BERR), to discuss her department's failure to reply to requests from the Committee for further information. She responded positively to our concerns and, as a result of the evidence session, the Department has reviewed its internal scrutiny process and put in place a training programme for its officials aimed at improving BERR's scrutiny performance. The Committee's clerk advisers participated in BERR's training programme.
- 36. Problems remain within certain departments, however. For instance, the Fisheries Directorate in the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs does not have a good track record in responding to requests for information made by the Committee; delays of up to three and a half months have occurred. We will be pursuing these scrutiny oversights when we take oral evidence from the Minister.

# **Co-operation with Departmental Select Committees**

37. Departmental Select Committees set their own agendas. Standing Order No. 143, however, gives the European Scrutiny Committee a formal power to seek an Opinion from a DSC. For example, we asked the Innovation, Universities, Science and Skills Committee for its opinion on a Commission Communication which advocated joint programming of national research and development programmes.<sup>17</sup>

38. We also draw our weekly report chapters to the attention of the relevant DSC when the subject matter is relevant to that Committee's work. For example, recognising the work which the International Development Committee had carried out on trade and the Commission's Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs), we have drawn our report chapters on EPAs with individual countries to the attention of that committee. Similarly we have drawn the attention of the Treasury Committee, in relation to its inquiry into the banking crisis, to our report chapter on proposals to amend the Capital Requirements Directive.18

39. In addition, we sent the Annual Policy Strategy 2009 to each DSC so they have the opportunity, if they wish, to communicate to the Commission their views on items relevant to their work. The APS is a means to alert DSCs to the areas in which the Commission is likely to make proposals in its legislative and work programme for the next year.

# Parliamentary networking

40. COSAC is the body which brings together members of the European affairs committees of national parliaments. It meets twice a year in plenary and also holds biannual meetings of COSAC chairmen. The principal business on each agenda is derived from COSAC's role as a body for exchanging information, in particular on the practical aspects of parliamentary scrutiny.

41. Examining whether EU proposals comply with the principle of subsidiarity has been part of our own scrutiny process ever since the principle was introduced in 1993. During 2008, national parliaments in COSAC agreed to conduct checks of two legislative proposals for compliance with the principles for subsidiarity and proportionality. These checks have been carried out on a voluntary basis under the auspices of COSAC and the provisions of the existing Treaties. If it is ratified, the Lisbon Treaty will give national parliaments a formal role in examining legislative proposals for their compliance with the principle of subsidiarity, and in registering objections if appropriate. COSAC's own checks will then cease and national parliaments will submit their reasoned opinions on subsidiarity to the Commission in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Protocol 2 to the Lisbon Treaty. So far this year one subsidiarity check has been run, that on the Draft Council Directive implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation.<sup>19</sup> The Committee concluded that the

<sup>17</sup> Thirty-seventh report of Session 2007-08, HC 16-xxxiii chapter 2.

<sup>18</sup> HC 16-xxxiv (2007-08), chapter 8.

<sup>19</sup> The XL COSAC Meeting on 3-4 November 2008 in Paris agreed to carry out the second subsidiarity check of 2008 on the Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and the Council on standards of quality and safety for the donation, procurement, testing, preservation, transport and characterisation of human organs.

proposal, provided it respects the limits of Community competence, appeared to be compatible with the principle of subsidiarity.

- 42. The XXXIX COSAC in Slovenia established a mandate for a working group, comprising the national parliaments' representatives to the EU, to look at proposals for better cooperation between national parliaments in the application of Protocol 2 on the principle of subsidiarity, should the Lisbon Treaty come into force. The House of Commons was represented by its National Parliament Office in Brussels. The working group set out ideas put forward by national parliaments for consideration at the Paris COSAC meeting. It stressed, however, that all parliaments were sovereign in determining not only their own internal procedures but also the degree to which they are willing to commit themselves to inter-parliamentary coordination in the implementation of the Protocol.
- 43. The Chairman and Committee members have played an active part in COSAC debates and in the formulation of COSAC Conclusions and the Contribution, which is addressed to all EU Institutions. At the Paris COSAC meeting the European Scrutiny Committee and the Lords European Union Committee were instrumental in ensuring that COSAC's Conclusions did not call for elaborate arrangements to deal with reasoned opinions on subsidiarity, but rather sought to exchange information on a regular basis through the existing national parliament staff network in Brussels.

#### National Parliament Office

- 44. The National Parliament Office (NPO) in Brussels monitors the activities of the EU Institutions which are relevant to the House's scrutiny of EU business. Its staff attend committee meetings and plenary sessions of European Parliament, and monitor key events relating to EU matters (such as weekly Commission meetings and the Council of Ministers) and regularly meet staff of the Institutions. They report on relevant outcomes of such meetings to the European Scrutiny Committee and to departmental select committees. Over 35 briefing papers have been provided for the European Scrutiny Committee during 2008. The NPO also produces a weekly information sheet detailing European business in the House of Commons for MEPs and interested parties in Brussels (the Commons European Business).
- 45. The NPO acts as a resource to provide information and intelligence on emerging EU issues in Brussels on demand to Members and staff of the European Scrutiny Committee and other select committees. NPO staff have responded to requests for information from committees including: Public Administration; EFRA; Foreign Affairs; Home Affairs; Treasury and Culture, Media and Sport Committees. The NPO has also provided support for Members visiting Brussels and for joint parliamentary or joint committee meetings, organised by the European Parliament.
- 46. The Interparliamentary EU Information Exchange (IPEX) website at www.ipex.eu has now been functioning for two years. It contains details of all EU documents issued by the Commission and of the state of Parliamentary scrutiny in each EU member state. This allows national parliaments' European affairs committees to compare their reports with those being made by their counterparts throughout the EU. Users may also request to be notified of all new material, either generally or within a particular subject area.

### Joint Parliamentary Meeting

47. The Committee continues to play an active part in joint parliamentary meetings (JPMs) and joint committee meetings (JCMs) convened by the parliament of the Presidency country and the European Parliament. In the last year the Chairman and Members of the Committee have attended a JPM on the Lisbon strategy and a JCM on the European Union and development cooperation, in addition to an International Conference in Slovenia on the 'Role of National Parliaments in the EU Decision-Making Processes'. The House of Commons has also been represented at a number of other such meetings by representatives from departmental select committees. Members have attended meetings on the western Balkans, agriculture, budgets and a forum on judicial cooperation.

# **Tripartite Meetings**

48. We continue to hold regular meetings with the House of Lords European Union Committee and with UK MEPs. The subjects discussed at these meetings have included (in March 2008) the western Balkans, the energy package and the Lisbon Treaty; (in July 2008) ratification of the Lisbon Treaty, the Commission's review of the Budget and high food prices; and (in November 2008) the Lisbon Treaty and European Parliament elections 2009, EU-Russia relations, and EU action in the face of the 'credit crunch.' The meetings continue to provide a valuable forum for exchanging information and views as well as enabling MEPs to provide the Commons and Lords committees with early notice of issues.

#### **Devolved Administrations**

49. The Chairman attends the meetings of the UK European Committee Chairs which include representatives of the House of Commons, House of Lords, National Assembly for Wales, Scottish Parliament and the Northern Ireland Assembly. The group met in Edinburgh in June and discussed the impact of the Lisbon Treaty, and the prioritisation of EU issues. The meeting also discussed the importance of the Assemblies and the Scottish Parliament alerting the Lords and Commons Committees to proposals which concern them, taking account of the tight timetable to which the Committees work.

# **Pre- and post Council scrutiny**

50. The Government issues a written Ministerial Statement shortly before each Council meeting confirming the agenda, the reason why each of the items is on the agenda, and the Government's general position on them. There is a further written Ministerial Statement on the outcome of the Council meetings. Following the concern we expressed last year, we are pleased to see a marked improvement in the quality of pre-and post Council statements and the provision of annotated agendas, but regret that there is still an uneven pattern between departments. The Foreign and Commonwealth Office still think it inappropriate to state the positions adopted in the Council by other Member States. Other departments have no such qualms and we suggest that the FCO follows their example.

51. Where Council meetings take place during recess, and there is not the opportunity to make a written Ministerial Statement on the outcome of the meeting to Parliament, the relevant Government Department writes to the Committee's Chairman. We publish these letters in our report in order to put the information in the public domain.

#### Conclusion

- 52. The increased level of activity by the Committee in 2007 has been maintained throughout 2008. The Committee's two reports from 2007 on the Inter-governmental conference and the draft Reform Treaty informed debate on the European Union (Amendment) Bill when it was considered by the House earlier in the year. In addition to dealing with an increased number of deposited documents, the Committee maintained its scrutiny of Government by producing two reports on Council Conclusions in addition to a report on Subsidiarity, National Parliaments and the Lisbon Treaty. Following further evidence sessions with Home Office Ministers, the Government has accepted the Committee's arguments on general approaches and the scrutiny reserve resolution. However, contrary to the views expressed in our Council Conclusions reports, the Government continues to refuse to deposit draft Conclusions of the Council and European Council for scrutiny.
- 53. Reforms to the House of Commons system for scrutiny of EU documents have been implemented in 2008. We welcome those changes made to European Committees, though we believe the committees should have permanent memberships.
- 54. As always, the work of the Committee in 2009 will be largely determined by the what documents are deposited for scrutiny. The Commission's Legislative and Work Programme for 2009 outlines 12 strategic initiatives and 37 priority initiatives which the Commission aims to deliver in the next year. These initiatives include measures regulating financial markets and encouraging economic recovery in the light of the economic crisis, accelerating the enlargement process for candidate countries and a package of measures to help the victims of organised crime. The Commission will also continue previous initiatives such as the budget review, the Better Regulation Package and measures to tackle climate change.

# Annex

# Meetings and subjects discussed during the Committee's overseas visits

# Pre-presidency visit to France by the Chairman, 7-8 July 2008

# 7 July

Chairman of the EU Committee at the National Assembly, Pierre Lequiller: Lisbon Treaty and French Presidency priorities.

Dinner with British Embassy Political team.

# 8 July

Deputy Cabinet Director for Europe, Benoît de la Chapelle Bizot: financial stability, indirect taxation, WTO, transport, social policy, CAP and energy.

Embassy briefing with British Ambassador, Sir Peter Westmacott.

Adviser to Secretary-General, Secretariat-General for European Affairs, Pierre Heilbronn: overview of French priorities, immigration/asylum, JHA issues, common corporate tax base and Lisbon Treaty.

#### EU Institutions, 13-14 October 2008

#### 13 October

UKRep Briefing with the Deputy Permanent Representative and desk officers.

Energy Commission, Commissioner Piebalgs: Energy policy.

Director General for Justice, Freedom and Security, Jonathan Faull: Schengen area; Immigration; Police cooperation; Judicial cooperation in criminal matters.

Dinner with Sir Kim Darroch, UK Permanent Representative and UKRep senior officials.

#### 14 October

Directorate for general political questions, Council Secretariat, Guy Milton: working practices; relations with EU institutions; record of meetings.

Directors in/of Council Legal Service, Hubert Légal and Juergen Hueber, and Head of Codecision Unit, Aidan Feeney: working practices; proposals for legislation by the Council; relationship with the Commission; role of co-decision unit.

Lunch discussion with MEPs.

Deputy Secretary-General, Director General of the Presidency, European Parliament, David Harley: Parliament's priorities; legislative processes; cooperation between national parliament s and the European Parliament.

# Pre-presidency visit to the Czech Republic, 18-20 November 2008

#### 18 November

Deputy Finance Minister, Tomáš Zidek: international response to the financial crisis and the Czech Presidency; Czech Presidency priorities for ECOFIN; environment and climate within ECOFIN framework.

First Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Regional Development, Ministry for Regional Development, Jiří Čunek: EU structural funds; political priorities for regional development agenda; regional development.

Minister and Chairman of the Legislative Council of the Government, Cyril Svoboda: Czech Presidency; scrutiny process in the Czech Republic.

Deputy Education Minister, Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, Jakub Dürr: skills agenda; Czech Presidency priorities.

Dinner at the Embassy with parliamentarians, academics, journalists and commentators.

#### 19 November

Deputy Minister of Industry and Trade, Ministry of Industry and Trade, Milan Hovorka: Europe Without Barriers; post-Lisbon; better regulation from a business perspective.

Chairman of Romea Assocation, Jarmila Balažová, Executive Director of Romea Association, Zdeněk Ryšavý, and Head of R-mostry Association, Jakub Čihák: Roma related issues in the Czech Republic.

Director-General of the European Union Section, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Libor Sečka: Czech Presidency priorities; enlargement; external relations, EU-Russia; EU/US - new administration; EU/Israel.

Hejtman of Pilsener region, Milada Emmerová.

Corporate Affairs Manager, Luděk Kraus, and Technical Director, Tibor Kovacs, Plzeňský Prazdroj: Czech exporting industry; enlargement; current economic challenges.

Dinner in Pilsen with the Mayor, Pavel Rödl, Deputy Mayors and Mayor's commissioner for EU affairs.

#### 20 November

Deputy Environment Minister, Aleš Kuták and UK Desk Officer, Ministry of the Environment, Jan Havlik: 2020 package; carbon capture and storage; post-Kyoto.

# **Formal minutes**

# Wednesday 14 January 2008

#### Members present:

Mr Michael Connarty in the Chair

Mr Adrian Bailey Keith Hill Mr David S Borrow Kelvin Hopkins Mr William Cash Mr Bob Laxton Mr James Clappison Angus Robertson Jim Dobbin Mr Anthony Steen Mr Greg Hands Richard Younger-Ross

#### Draft Report on the Work of the Committee 2008

Draft Report (Work of the Committee 2008), proposed by the Chairman, brought up and read.

Ordered, That the draft Report be read a second time, paragraph by paragraph.

Paragraphs 1 to 8 read and agreed to.

Paragraph 9 read.

Amendment proposed, in line 2, after "public." to insert the words "This meant the Committee decided what action to take on EU documents, and considered its draft reports on certain documents scrutinised, in private." — (Mr Greg Hands.)

Question put, That the Amendment be made.

The Committee divided.

Ayes, 3 Noes, 7

Mr William Cash Mr Adrian Bailey Mr Greg Hands Mr David S Borrow Angus Robertson Mr James Clappison

Jim Dobbin Keith Hill Mr Bob Laxton Richard Younger-Ross

Another Amendment made.

Paragraph, as amended, agreed to.

Paragraph 10 read and agreed to.

Paragraph 11 read.

Amendment proposed, in line 3, after "draft report" to insert the words "and to take decisions on any further scrutiny on EU documents." — (Mr Greg Hands.)

Question put, That the Amendment be made.

The Committee divided.

Ayes, 4 Noes, 6

Mr William Cash Mr Adrian Bailey Mr James Clappison Mr David S Borrow Mr Greg Hands Jim Dobbin

Richard Younger-Ross Keith Hill Mr Bob Laxton Angus Robertson

Paragraph agreed to.

Paragraph 12 read.

Amendment proposed, in line 8, to leave out the words "The House" and to insert the words, "Despite Opposition parties tabling an amendment to retain the presumption that Committee deliberations would be public, the House" —(Mr Greg Hands.)

Question put, That the Amendment be made.

The Committee divided.

Ayes, 5 Noes, 6

Mr William Cash Mr Adrian Bailey Mr James Clappison Mr David S Borrow Mr Greg Hands Jim Dobbin Angus Robertson Keith Hill Richard Younger-Ross Kelvin Hopkins

Mr Bob Laxton

Paragraph agreed to.

Paragraph 13 read.

Amendment proposed, in line 2, after "memberships" to insert the words, "following changes brought about by the Government." —(Mr Greg Hands.)

The Committee divided.

Ayes, 4 Noes, 6

Mr William Cash Mr Adrian Bailey Mr James Clappison Mr David S Borrow Mr Greg Hands Jim Dobbin Keith Hill Angus Robertson

Kelvin Hopkins Mr Bob Laxton

Paragraph agreed to.

Paragraphs 14 to 21 read and agreed to.

A paragraph — (Mr Greg Hands.) — brought up, read the first and second time and inserted (now paragraph 22).

Paragraphs 22 to 25 (now paragraphs 23 to 26) read and agreed to.

Paragraph 26 (now paragraph 27) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraph 27 (now paragraph 28) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraph 28 (now paragraph 29) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraph 29 (now paragraph 30) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraph 30 (now paragraph 31) read and agreed to.

Paragraph 31 (now paragraph 32) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraphs 32 and 33 (now paragraphs 33 and 34) read and agreed to.

Paragraph 34 (now paragraph 35) read, amended and agreed to.

A paragraph — (Mr Greg Hands.) — brought up, read the first and second time and inserted (now paragraph

Paragraphs 35 to 39 (now paragraphs 37 to 41) read and agreed to.

Paragraph 40 (now paragraph 42) read, amended and agreed to.

Paragraphs 41 to 49 (now paragraphs 43 to 51) read and agreed to.

Paragraph 50 (now paragraph 52) read, amended and agreed to.

A paragraph — (Mr Greg Hands.) — brought up and read a second time, as follows:

"Reforms to the House of Commons system for scrutiny of EU documents have been implemented in 2008. We welcome those changes made to European Committees, though we believe they should have permanent memberships. It was a matter of controversy in the House whether or not the Committee should typically deliberate in public."

Amendment proposed, in line 3 to leave out from "memberships" to the end of the paragraph.— (The Chairman.)

The Committee divided.

Ayes, 6 Noes, 4

Mr William Cash Mr Adrian Bailey Mr David S Borrow Mr James Clappison Jim Dobbin Mr Greg Hands Keith Hill Angus Robertson Kelvin Hopkins

Paragraph (now paragraph 53), as amended, inserted.

Mr Bob Laxton

Paragraph 51 (now paragraph 54) agreed to.

Annex agreed to.

Resolved, That the Report, as amended, be the Fourth Report of the Committee to the House.

Ordered, That the Chairman do make the Report to the House.